RECEIVED

Aug 18 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BARNWELL COUNTY
Courtney Clyburn Pope, Circuit Court Judge

Trial Court Case Nos. 2024-GS-06-00202, 2024-GS-06-00203,
2024-GS-06-00208, 2024-GS-06-00207, 2024-GS-06-00206,
2024-GS-06-00205, 2024-GS-06-00204, 2024-GS-06-00212,
2024-GS-06-00200, 2024-GS-06-00201, 2024-GS-06-00198,
2024-GS-06-00197, 2024-GS-06-00199

Appellate Case No. 2024-001535

The State,Appellant

v.

John Wilson Williamson, III,Respondent.

AND

The State,Appellant

v.

Corey Lamont Rivera,Respondent.

AND

The State,Appellant

v.

Keshawn Lamar Kelley,Respondent.

AND

The State,Appellant

v.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

John Wilson Williamson, III, (Arrest Warrant Nos. 2023A0610400084 & 2023A0610400174; Indictment Nos. 2024-GS-06-00202 & 2024-GS-06-00203); **Corey Lamont Rivera** (Arrest Warrant Nos. 2023A0610400221, 2023A0610400233, 2023A0610400234, & 2023A0610400235; Indictment Nos. 2024-GS-06-00205, 2024-GS-06-00206, 2024-GS-06-00207, & 2024-GS-06-00208); **Jasiah M. Brabham** (Arrest Warrant No. 2023A0610400137; Indictment No. 2024-GS-06-00212); **Keshawn Lamar Kelley** (Arrest Warrant No. 2023A0610400135; Indictment No. 2024-GS-06-00204); **Jericho Knight-Hudson** (Arrest Warrant Nos. 2023A0610400175 & 2024A0610400205; Indictment Nos. 2024-GS-06-00200 & 2024-GS-06-00201); **Shemar McKay Donaldson** (Arrest Warrant Nos. 2023A0610400176 & 2023A0610400220; Indictment Nos. 2024-GS-06-00197 & 2024-GS-06-00198); and **Jonathan William Eugene Blocker** (Arrest Warrant No. 2023A0610400205; Indictment No. 2024-GS-06-00199) were each arrested for one or more violations of S.C. Code § 24-7-155 (furnishing or attempting to furnish “a prisoner in any county, municipal, or multijurisdictional jail, prison camp, work camp, or overnight lockup facility with a matter declared to be contraband”). Pursuant to the terms of the South Carolina Code, this offense is classified as a felony and may be punished by a fine of not less than one thousand dollars (\$1,000) nor more than ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) or imprisonment for not less than one (1) year nor more than ten (10) years, or both. S.C. Code § 24-7-155 (2023); *see also* CDR Code 437 at sccourts.org/cdr-codes/?code=437.¹ Consequently, the arrest warrants were forwarded to the Barnwell County

¹ This offense and its punishment mirror the companion offense of furnishing or attempting to furnish “any prisoner under the jurisdiction of the Department of Corrections with any matter declared by the director to be contraband.” S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-950 (2023); *see also* CDR Code 74 at sccourts.org/cdr-codes/?code=74.

Clerk of Court of General Sessions and were subsequently presented to the Barnwell County Grand Jury, whereupon Respondents were indicted.²

On July 8, 2024, upon request of the Solicitor for the Second Judicial Circuit, the Honorable Courtney Clyburn Pope, Resident Judge for the Barnwell County Court of General Sessions, issued an “Order Transferring Cases to Magistrate Court (§24-3-965).” The Order found: “the attached cases allege violations of §24-7-155 (Possession of Contraband by a County Inmate) that *do not* include the furnishing or possession of illegal drugs or weapons” and “accordingly, pursuant to §23-3-965 [sic], these cases are exclusively triable in the magistrate’s court.” Based on these findings, Judge Clyburn Pope ordered that all pending and similarly situated defendants’ cases for violations of Section 24-7-155 be transferred to the Barnwell County magistrate court for trial. She further ordered that: “The Solicitor shall report the disposition of the transferred cases to the Chief Administrative Judge for General Sessions within one hundred eighty (180) days from the date of this order, provided, however that the expiration of the 180-day period shall not affect the ability of the magistrate court to try any cases transferred to the magistrate’s court still pending at that time.” (R.p.1-p.4).³

On July 9, 2024, following the issuance of the July 8, 2024 Order, Samuel Grimes, Esquire, counsel for defendant Corey Lamont Rivera, filed, in the Court of General Sessions, a

² The South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure provide that: “Magistrates, municipal judges, and other officials authorized to issue warrants shall, *in all cases within the jurisdiction of the Court of General Sessions*, forward to the Clerk of the Court of General Sessions all documents pertaining to the case including, but not limited to, the arrest warrant and bond, within fifteen (15) days from the date of arrest in the case of an arrest warrant and date of issuance in the case of other documents.” Rule 3, SCRCrimP (emphasis added). As explained in detail in the argument below, because the charged cases all involve contraband “other than weapons or illegal drugs,” they do not appear to be within the jurisdiction of the Court of General Sessions and instead appear to be in the jurisdiction of the magistrate court. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-965 (2023). Nevertheless, because no independent or separate CDR Code currently exists for contraband offenses not involving weapons or illegal drugs, the arrest warrants triggered the provisions of Rule 3, SCRCrimP, and forwarding the arrest warrants to the Clerk of Court of General Sessions.

³ As noted in its caption, this order was based on Section 24-3-965 of the Code which provides in part: “Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 22-3-540, 22-3-545, 22-3-550, 24-3-950, and 24-7-155, the offenses of furnishing contraband, other than weapons or illegal drugs . . . must be tried exclusively in magistrate’s court.”

three-page written: “Motion to Dismiss or in the Alternative to Define Sentencing Range,” as well as a fourteen-page “Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss or in the Alternative to Define Sentencing Range” challenging the transfer of his case to magistrate’s court for trial. (R.p.5-p.38).

Rivera’s motion was scheduled for a hearing before Judge Clyburn Pope on Tuesday, July 16, 2024. Rivera was present and was represented by Mr. Grimes. The State was represented by Deputy Solicitor David W. Miller of the Second Circuit Solicitor’s Office. At the outset of the hearing, the State advised the court that in addition to defendant Rivera, defendant John Wilson Williamson. III, would also be appearing to join in the motion to dismiss, and that Williamson would be represented by Derek M. Bush of the Second Circuit Public Defender’s Office. Williamson was indeed present and was represented by Mr. Bush. (R.p.68-p.69). The State then provided the court with a brief procedural history, explaining that in addition to Rivera and Williamson there were a number of other similarly situated defendants from Barnwell County who also wanted to challenge the transfer to magistrate’s court, but who would not be available to join in the arguments until Thursday, July 18, 2024. The State further explained that when multiple defendants attempted to challenge the transfer during an earlier status conference before Barnwell County Chief Magistrate Gantt, the parties agreed it would be best to handle their arguments in the circuit court where they could seek a consolidated ruling from Judge Clyburn Pope. The State noted that each defendant had been indicted prior to the transfer, and that Ola A. Johnson, Esquire, and public defender Wallis Alves represented the additional defendants who would be joining in the motion to dismiss on Thursday, July 18, 2024. The solicitor advised the court that Johnson and Alves might wish to make additional arguments on behalf of their respective clients. (R.p.69-p.72). Mr. Grimes largely agreed with the procedural

history described and asked the court to withhold its ruling until hearing from all defendants at the conclusion of the future hearing to be held Thursday. Judge Clyburn Pope agreed to the request and then heard initial arguments on the joint motion to dismiss from Mr. Grimes and Mr. Bush, as well as responsive arguments from the State. (R.p.72-p.73; p138).

On Thursday, July 18, 2024, the consolidated matter was reconvened before Judge Clyburn Pope. Defendants Jasiah M. Brabham and Keshawn Lamar Kelley were present, and both were represented by Ola A. Johnson, Esquire. Although it does not appear they were present, defendants Jericho Knight-Hudson and Shemar McKay Donaldson were represented by Ms. Alves, and defendant Jonathan William Eugene Blocker was represented by Andrew B. Farley, Esquire. As acknowledged by Judge Clyburn Pope at the end of the hearing, all similarly situated defendants (including the three not in attendance) had also joined in the motion and would consequently obtain a ruling from the court. Deputy Solicitor Miller again appeared on behalf of the State. (R.p.140). At the conclusion of the hearing, the lower court took the matter under advisement and said it would issue a ruling after getting all parties and attorneys involved. (R.p.151).

As individual proposed orders were submitted by the various defense attorneys representing the seven defendants, Judge Clyburn Pope issued nearly identical individual orders, each styled: "Order Dismissing Warrants." (R.p.39-p.65). Over the course of the two-day hearing, the lower court incorporated all motions, memoranda, arguments, and objections of both the State and the similarly situated defendants in the record. (R.p.39-p.65). The two transcripts from the joint hearings are a combined eighty-seven (87) pages long.

The State timely filed notice of intent to appeal each of the seven (7) orders dismissing the respective warrants and indictments. After obtaining copies of the transcripts, on February

21, 2025, the State served and filed a Motion to Consolidate, asking this Court to exercise its discretion to consolidate the seven appeals into a single appeal as provided for in Rule 214, SCACR. On February 26, 2025, a letter in lieu of a formal return was submitted by Appellate Defender Jordan M. Wayburn in the Division of Appellate Defense of the South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense, advising he was the attorney representing all seven Respondents and consenting to the motion. In an Order filed March 3, 2025, this Court granted the motion to consolidate. This Brief of Appellant on behalf of the State now follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In his original motion to dismiss, Respondent Rivera raised a variety of procedural, substantive, and practical challenges to the circuit court's order transferring his case to magistrate's court; however, it centered on the overarching claims that "placing Defendant in jeopardy of trial in one court while the only charging documents are pending in a separate court is a violation of Defendant's due process." (R.p.5-p.7). The memorandum then argued several grounds challenging the Order including: "Statutory Interpretation," "Jurisdiction," & "Alternative Issue," with subsections titled "Vagueness," "Legislative Intent," and "Other Instructive Sources." (R.p.8-p.38).

Motion Hearing

At the motion hearing before Judge Clyburn Pope, Rivera proceeded to press the arguments made in his written motion. He acknowledged his motion boiled down to the lower court's consideration of what section 24-3-965 means in regard to both: (1) which court (general sessions or magistrate) has jurisdiction to try the underlying offenses, and (2) what penalty may be imposed by that court upon conviction. Rivera then articulated a challenge to the procedure he alleged had been employed by the State, complaining that the arrest warrants were filed in general sessions court but that the State was then attempting to try the cases in magistrate court because the contraband charges did not involve weapons or drugs. He claimed the procedure of sending the arrest warrants to general sessions court, getting indictments before the grand jury, and then asking to transfer the cases to the magistrate for trial, was "made up" as compared to the statutory procedure for sending cases to "transfer court" in section 22-3-545 of the Code. Rivera argued it would be a procedural nightmare to try cases in magistrate's court as "ten-year felony" offenses before pivoting his argument to a focus on statutory interpretation and why he believed it should be employed to limit the possible sentencing range. (R.p.73-p.83).

In regard to the statute, Rivera properly referred to the rules of statutory interpretation, including the cardinal rule that courts should ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature by following the plain meaning of any statute where it is clear on its face, without resorting to any other rules of interpretation. He claimed the question of jurisdiction itself was clear, with section 24-3-965 placing it exclusively in the province of the magistrate for contraband charges that did not involve weapons or illegal drugs; however, he argued this rendered the ten-year maximum statutory punishment set forth in section 24-7-155 ambiguous because of the general punishment limitations the legislature has placed on magistrates and the

“notwithstanding” language in section 24-3-965 itself. Rivera argued that because section 24-3-965 says: “notwithstanding the provisions of . . . 24-7-155,” that language must be given effect, which in his opinion means the legislature must have intended to limit the penalty provision of section 24-7-155 so as to restrict the punishment for non-weapon or illegal drug contraband offenses to a maximum of thirty days’ imprisonment.⁴ In support of this argument, Respondents pointed to: (1) a previously existing but now expired CDR code issued by South Carolina Court Administration [3322], (2) a 2019 appellate opinion from this Court which identified as unpreserved an issue concerning the trial court’s failure to give a jury charge on section 24-3-965 as a purported lesser-included-offense of section 24-7-155,⁵ and (3) a Senate bill intended to specifically address cell phones as prison contraband.⁶ (R.p.83-p.104). Finally, Rivera focused on certain provisions of our South Carolina Constitution and argued that indicting him for these magistrate level offenses and then asking the court of general sessions to supervise his prosecution in magistrate court was unconstitutional. He further argued that allowing a magistrate court trial with sentencing exposure to a ten-year felony would also be unconstitutional. (R.p.104-p.109).

In response, the State articulated a common-sense, straightforward argument based on the unambiguous, plain language used by the Legislature in section 24-3-965, an argument which addressed the “notwithstanding” language Respondents claimed was problematic but which did not require the lower court to resort to statutory interpretation to divine additional meaning or

⁴ Interestingly, Rivera initially ignored the remainder of the statutes listed in the relevant clause, which provides in full: “Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 22-3-540, 22-3-545, 22-3-550, 22-3-950, and 24-7-155” S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-965 (2024) (emphasis added).

⁵ *State v. Grier*, 427 S.C. 107, 828 S.E.2d 782 (2019).

⁶ Notably, S. 117, 125th Session (S.C. 2023-2024), the “Contraband Cell Phone Act,” was read for the first time and referred to the Committee on Corrections and Penology on January 10, 2023; however, no further action was taken on the bill during the remainder of the 2023-2024 session of the General Assembly, a session that ended *prior* to Respondents’ argument before Judge Clyburn Pope.

impose Respondents' preferred meaning in a fashion that expanded the plain language of the statute. Indeed, the solicitor noted the most obvious reason the Legislature would allow operation of section 24-3-965 notwithstanding section 24-7-155—because otherwise an unworkable overlap would exist. Without the notwithstanding language, section 24-7-155 would allow prosecution of ALL types of contraband, including material that was not weapons or illegal drugs, in general sessions court, while section 24-3-965 would simultaneously allow prosecution of contraband that was not weapons or illegal drugs in magistrate court. The notwithstanding clause makes it clear that this group of contraband cases should be tried exclusively in magistrate court *in spite of* the statute that normally would lead to them being tried in general sessions court.⁷ The solicitor further explained how this interpretation made particular sense given the other statutes the legislature directed should be disregarded in enacting 24-3-965—sections 22-3-540, 22-3-545, and 22-3-550—all of which generally restrict or limit the magistrate court's jurisdiction and sentencing authority. In regard to the procedure employed, the State explained it had indicted the cases out of an abundance of caution, but noted nothing about that action would prevent or deprive a magistrate court of jurisdiction to simply try these cases. The State argued the legislative intent couldn't be more clear and that there is no ambiguity in the statute which would require further interpretation. (R.p.109-p.125). The State, Rivera, and Williamson made additional arguments, all of which were taken under advisement by the lower court. (R.p.125-p.138).

At the subsequent portion of the motion hearing on July 18, 2024, the other Respondents who appeared focused on the claim that the alleged ambiguity in section 24-3-965 should be

⁷ "Notwithstanding" is typically defined as meaning "despite" or "in spite of." *See Notwithstanding*, Merriam-Webster, <https://www.meriam-webster.com/dictionary/notwithstanding> (last visited May 1, 2025); THE AMERICAN HERITAGE COLLEGE DICTIONARY 934 (3rd ed. 1997).

resolved in favor of an interpretation that limited the magistrate court's sentencing range to a maximum sentence of thirty days. (R.p.140-p.151).

Ruling by the Lower Court

In each of the seven individual orders "Dismissing Warrants and Indictments," the lower court found as follows:

The Court agrees with defendants that the overlapping contraband statutes are ambiguous and the legislature could not have intended a sentence of up to 10 years for this category of cases. In reaching this determination, the Court believes it does not make sense to ignore or except all of the provisions of each listed statute section – which would mean to ignore the entire statute that creates the offense as well as the entire statute which provides any criminal jurisdiction to the magistrate court. Therefore, the Court finds that an ambiguity exists in the statute and that the Court must use the mandated rules of statutory interpretation to discern the meaning of §24-3-965.

In applying the rules of statutory interpretation, the Court must defer to legislative intent, avoid absurd results, and because this statute is penal in nature, must construe any ambiguity in favor of defendants. §24-3-965 divides violations of §24-7-155 into two classes of cases – one that involves weapons or illegal drugs, and another that involves all other types of contraband. The Court finds that the legislature could not have intended for the category of cases that does not involve weapons or illegal drugs to be subject to the same ten-year maximum penalty.

The court further finds that violations of §24-7-155, that do not involve weapons or illegal drugs must be brought in magistrate court with magistrate court warrants and are not properly filed in general sessions court. Thus, the July 8, 2024 Order Transferring Cases to Magistrate Court is hereby vacated. Therefore, the above warrants must be dismissed. If the State intends to pursue prosecution of the allegations in [these matters], [they] must be prosecuted in magistrate court.

Based on the foregoing, it is therefore ORDERED:

1. The previously filed July 8, 2024 Order Transferring Cases to the Magistrate Court is hereby VACATED; and,

2. The warrants in [these matters] are not properly before this Court and should be, and hereby are, DISMISSED; and
3. Nothing in this order prevents the State from obtaining new warrants in the original jurisdiction of the magistrate court against the Defendant[s] for the offenses alleged in [these matters].

IT IS SO ORDERED.

(R.p.39-p.65).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Robinson*, 426 S.C. 579, 591, 828 S.E.2d 203, 209 (2019); *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001); *State v. Holcomb*, 426 S.C. 557, 562, 827 S.E.2d 367, 370 (Ct. App. 2019). Appellate courts review questions of law *de novo*, with no deference to trial courts. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 181, 810 S.E.2d 836, 840 (2018). Questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which are subject to *de novo* review and which the appellate court is free to decide without any deference to the court below. *State v. Whitner*, 399 S.C. 547, 552, 732 S.E.2d 861, 863 (2012).

ARGUMENT

I.

The circuit court committed an error of law in granting Respondents' motions to dismiss their arrest warrants for furnishing or attempting to furnish contraband, other than weapons or illegal drugs, to an inmate in a county or municipal prison because: (1) the Legislature's grant of subject matter jurisdiction and concomitant sentencing authority to the magistrate courts was authorized by the South Carolina Constitution and (2) the relevant criminal and jurisdictional statutes enacted by the Legislature pursuant to that constitutional authorization are unambiguous and convey a clear and definite meaning.

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