**RECEIVED**  
**Sep 04 2025**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Barnwell County  
Honorable Courtney Clyburn-Pope, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,	APPELLANT,
V.	
JOHN WILSON WILLIAMSON, III,	RESPONDENT
AND	
THE STATE,	APPELLANT,
V.	
COREY LAMONT RIVERA,	RESPONDENT
AND	
THE STATE,	APPELLANT,
V.	
KESHAWN LAMAR KELLEY,	RESPONDENT
AND	
THE STATE,	APPELLANT,
V.	
JASIAH M. BRABHAM,	RESPONDENT

AND

THE STATE,

APPELLANT,

V.

JERICHO KNIGHT-HUDSON,

RESPONDENT

AND

THE STATE,

APPELLANT,

V.

SHEMAR MCKAY DONALDSON,

RESPONDENT

AND

THE STATE,

APPELLANT,

V.

JONATHAN WILLIAM EUGENE BLOCKER,

RESPONDENT

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

---

<sup>1</sup> Except for the title of the order of dismissal for Respondent John Williamson, all of the orders for each of the Respondents are identical. For an unknown reason, Williamson's order is entitled "Order Dismissing Warrants and Indictments" while all of the other orders are entitled merely "Order Dismissing Warrants." R. 39. Williamson's order does not actually order the indictments dismissed. R. 42. For simplicity, citation will be made only to Mr. Williamson's order of dismissal.

conviction: (1) "an order quashing an indictment" or (2) an order "granting the suppression of evidence which significantly impairs the prosecution of a criminal case." *State v. McKnight*, 353 S.C. 238, 239 n.2, 577 S.E.2d 456, 457 n.2 (2003) (citations omitted); *State v. Looper*, 421 S.C. 384, 387, 807 S.E.2d 203, 204 (2017) (citations omitted). This order did not quash or dismiss the indictments because the order states no such thing, and for all but Mr. Rivera the indictments are still pending. The order also clearly is not a suppression order, nor does it in any other way "significantly impair[]" the prosecution of the criminal cases. *Looper*, 421 S.C. at 387, 807 S.E.2d at 204; see § 14-3-330 (providing appellate jurisdiction to review an intermediate order that "in effect determines the action and prevents a judgment from which an appeal might be taken or discontinues the action"). The order is therefore not appealable, and the appeal should be dismissed for lack of appellate jurisdiction. See *State v. Rearick*, 417 S.C. 391, 400, 790 S.E.2d 192, 196-97 (2016) (citing *State v. Hughes*, 56 S.C. 540, 35 S.E. 214, 215 (1900)) (explaining premature interlocutory appeals must be dismissed).

Two additional reasons should preclude the state from appealing at this juncture. First, because the indictments are still pending, dismissing the arrest warrant is irrelevant—it is a moot issue and any decision by this court as to the arrest warrants would not change the state's or Respondents' positions. Second, the circuit court's order expressly provided the state can obtain new arrest warrants in the original jurisdiction of the magistrates court. The state had available an alternative path that perfectly preserved its rights, and it chose not to take it.

Respondents recognize it was likely an administrative oversight that led to the indictments not being dismissed with the arrest warrants. Nonetheless, the circuit court's order is very clear it

dismisses only the warrants, and except those for Mr. Rivera,<sup>2</sup> none of the indictments have been dismissed by any other action. They are technically still pending. At this point on appeal, however, Respondents are powerless to do more than point out the state's procedural fault and ask this Court for redress.

Should the Court find this appeal is proper, and insofar as Rivera's case arguably presents a different appellate posture, Respondents will address the merits of the issue raised by the state.

**II. Respondents agree magistrates court has exclusive jurisdiction; thus, the warrants were properly dismissed.**

In its brief the state clearly expressed its position: magistrates court has exclusive jurisdiction over these charges. App. Br. 16-17. Respondents agree. As the statute provides, these charges—because they do not involve weapons or illegal drugs—"must be tried exclusively in magistrates court." S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-965. That is what the General Assembly decided, and that is what should be done. It is also what the circuit court ordered: "violations of § 24-7-155 that do not involve weapons or illegal drugs must be brought in magistrate court with magistrate court warrants and are not properly filed in general sessions court." R. 41.

While accepting the state's premise, Respondents part company with the state's disconnected conclusion that, because these cases must be tried in magistrates court, the circuit court erred by dismissing the arrest warrants. The state asks this Court to "reinstate the dismissed arrest warrants as to all seven Respondents." App. Br. at 19. This request must be denied because

---

<sup>2</sup> While the note on Mr. Rivera's indictments might blame the circuit court's order for the disposition, the order simply did not do that. The indictments were apparently voluntarily dismissed by the solicitor; they were not quashed by the court. It is self-evident the state has no right to appeal its own voluntary dismissal, so any procedural dissimilarity between his case and the rest should be inconsequential. Therefore *all* of the appeals are either premature or, for Mr. Rivera, improper because there is no relevant order from which the state appeals. Thus, all of the appeals should be dismissed.

the state cannot bring arrest warrants to a court without jurisdiction over them. The circuit court had before it arrest warrants and indictments for offenses which "must be tried *exclusively* in magistrates court." § 24-3-965 (emphasis added). Because section 24-3-965 provides exclusive jurisdiction to the magistrates court, the circuit court had no jurisdiction over these cases. S.C. Const. art. V, § 11 ("The Circuit Court shall be a general trial court with original jurisdiction in civil and criminal cases, *except those cases in which exclusive jurisdiction shall be given to inferior courts . . .*" (emphasis added)). Under the statute—and as the state concedes—the circuit court lacked jurisdiction to hear the cases. Thus, there was no error in dismissing the warrants. *See State v. Castleman*, 219 S.C. 136, 137-39, 64 S.E.2d 250, 251-52 (1951) (reversing conviction on appeal following circuit court trial because magistrates court had exclusive jurisdiction over the offense).

In its brief the state offered no argument whatsoever to support reinstating these warrants in the court of general sessions despite exclusive jurisdiction resting in magistrates court. General sessions court cannot entertain arrest warrants with charges for possession of contraband unless the alleged contraband is weapons or illegal drugs. § 24-3-965; 16 Corpus Juris, *Criminal Law* § 163, at 147 (1918) ("There can be no valid prosecution and conviction for crime unless the court in which the prosecution is instituted and carried on . . . has jurisdiction of the offense charged [and] of the person of the defendant . . . ." (footnotes omitted)). To reinstate the warrants in general sessions court would be error because they fall outside of its jurisdiction. It would be just as erroneous to allow the state to file the arrest warrants with this Court.

**III. The sentencing range for this offense is not properly before this Court, but if it was the General Assembly did not intend for this magistrates court offense to carry a ten-year sentence.**

- a. *This Court should not address the sentencing issue because it is not yet ripe for review and the issue was not preserved below.*

Whether the magistrates court can sentence a defendant to ten years in prison under section 24-7-155 is not yet ripe for review. No defendant has yet been convicted, and no court with jurisdiction over the charges has made any determination about the potential sentence for these offences. "In South Carolina, a criminal defendant may not appeal until sentence has been imposed." *State v. Miller*, 289 S.C. 426, 426, 346 S.E.2d 705, 705 (1986) (citations omitted); *see generally State v. Rearick*, 417 S.C. 391, 398-401, 790 S.E.2d 192, 196-97 (2016) (discussing criminal defendant's appeals prior to sentencing). There is no sound reason the state should be treated differently and allowed to litigate a sentencing issue before any sentence is imposed. For now, this abstract question about the sentencing authority of the magistrates court is just that—abstract. It is not yet "ripe and appropriate for judicial determination" and should not be considered by this Court. *Pee Dee Elec. Co-op., Inc. v. Carolina Power & Light Co.*, 279 S.C. 64, 66, 301 S.E.2d 761, 762 (1983) (citing *Orr v. Clyburn*, 277 S.C. 536, 290 S.E.2d 804 (1982)); *see also Jowers v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control*, 423 S.C. 343, 353, 815 S.E.2d 446, 451 (2018) (quoting *Colleton Cnty. Taxpayers Ass'n v. Sch. Dist. of Colleton Cnty.*, 371 S.C. 224, 242, 638 S.E.2d 685, 694 (2006)) ("[A]n issue that is contingent, hypothetical, or abstract is not ripe for judicial review."). The state is premature to request an order that these charges shall be "subject to the statutory punishment" in section 24-7-155. App. Br. 19.

Further, the sentencing question was not decided below and therefore the issue is not properly preserved. *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) ("In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal." (citing *Humbert v. State*, 345 S.C. 332, 548 S.E.2d 862 (2001))). Our Supreme Court "has consistently held that a challenge to sentencing must be raised at trial, or the issue will not be

preserved for appellate review." *State v. Johnston*, 333 S.C. 459, 462, 510 S.E.2d 423, 425 (1999). There is no logical reason to permit the state to circumvent this ordinary requirement and process in its attempt to raise this issue now without a ruling from the circuit court. *Contra State v. Plumer*, 439 S.C. 346, 351, 887 S.E.2d 134, 137 (2023) (holding courts may, rarely, remedy "illegal sentences" without objection below *if* the parties agree it is an illegal sentence). The relief granted by the circuit court was to dismiss the arrest warrants and state these charges can be brought again in magistrates court upon new arrest warrants. Nothing came of the court's statement, "the legislature could not have intended for the category of cases that does not involve weapons or illegal drugs to be subject to the same ten-year maximum penalty." R. 41. The circuit court did not actually rule on this issue, and it could not do so because—as explained above—it lacks jurisdiction over the charges *and* the sentencing issue is not yet ripe for review. The state failed to preserve the issue, so this Court should not now decide the matter.

*b. If necessary to address now, Respondents assert the ten-year-sentence in § 24-7-155 cannot apply to contraband cases not concerning illegal drugs and weapons.*

Respondents strongly contend the Court should not now address the sentencing issue for the several reasons raised above. However, for fear of waiving the issue, Respondents will now outline two reasons the legislature did not intend for magistrates to sentence a defendant to up to ten years in prison for violation of this contraband statute.<sup>3</sup>

First, the statute should not be interpreted to allow such an extreme sentence because if the General Assembly intended the two classes of the offense to carry the same penalty, there would have been no reason to segregate some of them to magistrates court. Section 24-3-965 divides the

---

<sup>3</sup> Because they were not ruled upon below and were argued only preliminarily below, any constitutional concerns with this potential sentencing range must wait to be addressed once, and if, a Respondent or future defendant is sentenced to more than thirty days for a contraband violation not involving weapons or illegal drugs.

contraband offense into two classes: those cases concerning drugs or illegal weapons and all other cases. If all contraband offenses regardless of class were intended to be subject to a potential ten year term, they all would be heard in general sessions court. As the circuit court wrote: "the legislature could not have intended for the category of cases that does not involve weapons or illegal drugs to be subject to the same ten-year maximum penalty." R. 42.

The more reasonable interpretation is that the General Assembly assigned the class of lesser offenses to magistrates court subject to the typical sentencing authority of that court. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 22-3-540 (providing magistrates court with "exclusive jurisdiction of all criminal cases in which the punishment does not exceed a fine of one hundred dollars or imprisonment for thirty days"). Section 24-7-155 provides for a *minimum* sentence of one year (or a minimum fine of \$1,000, or both). It strains credulity to assert that even though almost every offense tried in magistrates court is subject to a maximum thirty-day sentence or \$100 fine, the General Assembly intended a minimum sentence of a one year and/or fine of \$1,000 for simply possessing, for example, a phone charger.

Second, the limited legislative history of the statutes supports this interpretation. Section 24-7-155 criminalized the possession or provision of contraband in 1979. 1979 Act No. 20, § 1. After some time prosecuting offenses under this law, the General Assembly apparently saw the large number of minor infractions—those not involving drugs or illegal weapons—and sought to avoid them bogging down the general sessions court. Thus, it passed section 24-3-965 in 2000. 2000 Act No. 376, § 3. It therefore intended to classify those less substantial offenses as minor crimes to be tried in magistrates court and subject to the typical thirty-day sentencing cap like any other.

**IV. The remaining indictments should also be dismissed because the circuit court and grand jury lack jurisdiction over the offenses.**

In addition to affirming the circuit court's order, Respondents request this Court vacate or quash their related indictments pending before the circuit court or to direct the circuit court do so on remand.<sup>4</sup> For the same reason the arrest warrants were appropriately dismissed—the magistrates court has exclusive jurisdiction—the indictments must be dismissed as well.

The rule has long been that a grand jury has jurisdiction coextensive with that of the court to which it returns indictments:

In order that an indictment or presentment may be valid the grand jury must of course have jurisdiction. As a general rule its jurisdiction is coextensive with that of the court in which it is impaneled and for which it is to make inquiry. Therefore, to render an indictment or presentment valid, the court in which the grand jury is acting must have jurisdiction; and this includes jurisdiction of the offense . . . with respect to the character of the offense.

31 Corpus Juris, *Indictments and Informations* § 23, at 574 (1923) (footnotes omitted). This is the rule in South Carolina: "No indictment may be true billed by the grand jury when the circuit court lacks jurisdiction since the grand jury's jurisdiction is co-extensive with the criminal jurisdiction of the court in which it is impaneled and for which it is to make inquiry." *State v. McClure*, 277

---

<sup>4</sup> This issue can be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 100, 610 S.E.2d 494, 498 (2005) ("[I]ssues related to subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time."); see also *State v. Funderburk*, 259 S.C. 256, 261, 191 S.E.2d 520, 522 (1972) (citations omitted) ("It is elementary that lack of jurisdiction of the cause or subject matter can be raised at any time, including for the first time on appeal in this Court."). This challenge is not to the sufficiency of the indictment, which cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, *Gentry*, 363 S.C. at 102-03, 610 S.E.2d at 500, but directly to the subject matter jurisdiction of the circuit court and grand jury and their authority to consider contraband cases of this class. See *Bayly v. State*, 397 S.C. 290, 295, 724 S.E.2d 182, 184 (2012) ("[S]ubject matter jurisdiction is the power of a court to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong." (quoting *Gentry*, 363 S.C. at 100, 610 S.E.2d at 498)). Even if this issue would otherwise be not yet capable of appeal, where an interlocutory appeal is taken on another issue, appellate courts can consider issues concerning jurisdiction. See *Welch v. Advance Auto Parts, Inc.*, 445 S.C. 640, 658, 916 S.E.2d 320, 330 (2025).

S.C. 432, 434, 289 S.E.2d 158, 160 (1982); *see also Funderburk*, 259 S.C. at 261, 191 S.E.2d at 522 (citations omitted). Because the circuit court lacked jurisdiction over the offense, the indictments too are invalid as outside the jurisdiction of the Barnwell County grand jury. The indictments were true billed without jurisdiction, and this Court should quash them.<sup>5</sup>